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Rayanne Cramer:
1979, this is Rayanne Cramer and Virginia Donaway on the Vecca Neighborhood and Public Policy Project.  We are with Metropolitan Interfaith Association on a grant from the Tennessee Committee for Humanities, an affiliate for the National Endowment for the Humanities.


We will be interviewing Mr. Gilbert Delugach.  And Mr. Delugach, I understand that your family helped developed a good part of the Vecca neighborhood and you have been kind enough to draw a map and explain land owners and developments.  I am going to turn this over and let you start talking to explain this wonderful map here.

Gilbert Delugach:
As I understand it was to be the development between North Parkway Boulevard on the south and Cypress Creek on the North and -

[00:01:00]

- Watkins Street on the West and Tresson Street on the east.  The developments really started about 1923 by Marks and Benstoff at the western end of this section when they developed the University Park Subdivision both between North Parkway and Jackson and later, about 1924, Jackson North to Vollentine.  They didn’t develop all of the property, there was a little bit of property left to the west between Jackson and Vollentine and it was developed about a year later.


The various developments took place after the Marks and Benstoff development, which was a large part basically -

[00:02:00]

- from Watkins Street east to Evergreen.

Virginia Donaway:
Let me interrupt a minute.  I noticed on something I was looking at that Speedway Land Company figured in on that development, do you know anything about them, who they were?

Gilbert Delugach:
I believe the Speedway Land Company did develop it and possibly that might have been the part between North Parkway and Jackson.  And that was the original Mr. Faxson who developed that.  Faxson Avenue is named after him.  I believe the part between North Parkway and Jackson easy of Watkins was developed by Speedway Land Company.

Virginia Donaway:
I didn’t know whether Marks and Benstoff was part of Speedway –

Gilbert Delugach:
Then I believe Marks and Benstoff developed the part from Jackson north to Vollentine, which was about 1924.  Speedway Land Company may -

[00:03:00]


- have started development back in 1920 or so.
Virginia Donaway:
They filed the plat for that back as early as 1912, but I don’t know if they –

Gilbert Delugach:
It was the father of Mr. Faxson so he is now still developing, Faxson and Devine.

Virginia Donaway:
I had known that and I had not made the connection.

Gilbert Delugach:
My father was Harry Delugach who had built six homes in 1915 on the south side of North Parkway which was not in this section but just across the street on some empty lots that he had bought. 


A great part of this land basically between North Parkway and Jackson was owned by the Snowden Family, Mr. Byrd and Mr. Brinkley Snowden –
[00:04: 00]


- they gave the land as I understand it, to Southwestern at Memphis for the development of the university in the early ‘20s.  Hyne Park was developed by Mr. Hyne from Tressment west to Charles Place just east of the university.  That possibly was in the early 1920’s.
Virginia Donaway:
Let me ask another question about that, the really old map that we saw said Gerber Mett Hyne.  Do you know anything about Gerber or Hyne?

Gilbert Delugach:
The Gerber’s and the Hyne’s were related.  It may have been their original property or they may have possibly bought it from the Snowden family, I don’t know.

Virginia Donaway:
I looked that up and I’m not –

Gilbert Delugach:
The Snowden family owned a great deal of land in this area that they bought many -

[00:05:00]


- it may have been a farm many years before.
Virginia Donaway:
They got it from the Overton’s, I don’t know.

Gilbert Delugach:
My father Harry Delugach bought the University View subdivision land from Mr. Byrd Snowden.

Virginia Donaway:
Which part developed first, the part up close to Jackson or the part down?

Gilbert Delugach:
The first development was the Faxson Development of Speedway Terrace at North Parkway east of Watkins.  The next development was Marks and Benstoff from Jackson North to Vollentine from about McNeil east to Evergreen.  It was a very large development called University Park.  And a great many homes were built there in the early ‘20s.

Virginia Donaway:
Up in just south of Jackson at -

[00:06:00]


- McClain, there was one on an early plat called the Crump and Guthery, do you know anything about that?  It had an early plat, but it didn’t seem to develop.
Gilbert Delugach:
Yes, it was a partial development west of McClain and it lagged and had quite a bit of empty land on it.  It was sort of a rough development, very little improvement in there.  Later as the ground became more valuable, people began to build.


So there were some developments of property that had just a few lots that weren’t large subdivisions in that and it gradually filled in Delta Day, no empty land there at all.

Virginia Donaway:
So it didn’t really develop until the 30’s, late 20’s?

Gilbert Delugach:
In the late 20’s until the depression -

[00:07:00]


- there was a lot of development.  See, things slowed down in World War I, there was no building until 1920.  It became to come up a little bit in the early 20’s such as Hyne Park.  Then a great deal of development took place between 1924 and 1930 when the depression hit and then of course everything stopped.  Then what was left over, there were a quite few developed lots that were built on, we had a number of them ourselves.  Our firm was called H. Delugach and company and was composed of my father, my two brothers and myself.  We had a great many empty lots that we carried all during the depression and started building again in 1938 and then developed other subdivisions a little to the north in -

[00:08:00]


- the first grown development was really from 1924 to 1930.  Our University View subdivision which we developed a part of and part of was developed by Foster and Stevenson.  I don’t think either one of them are still living.
Virginia Donaway:
I wondered about that, I had noticed their name on something.

Gilbert Delugach:
Foster and Stevenson also developed the Colonial Garden subdivision from McClain east to University which took in Bartsville, Sheridan and Kensington.  They developed that I think about 1926.

Virginia Donaway:
So your father’s University Circle –

Gilbert Delugach:
University View.

Virginia Donaway:
University View was first and then University Circle?

Gilbert Delugach:
University Circle came later.
[00:09:00]


Right after Colonial Garden was developed, Coronal Terry, whose family owned a great deal of land tried to develop the piece from Evergreen east to McClain, from Jackson to Vollentine.  And he had platted it, but he didn’t finish the improvements and my father, H. Delugach, bought that from him.  My brothers and I were in the business at the time, bought all the lots that were not sold and that was most of the lots, about 130 some lots.  There were maybe half a dozen that were not sold.  We sold lots and built houses on Evergreen and Auburndale and Hawthorn and McClain. 

[00:10:00]

Gilbert Delugach:
Do you know anything about Terry Town?  Is this where Terry Town was?

Virginia Donaway:
It must have been.  It was owned by the Terry family, they owned the land between Evergreen and McClain from Jackson to Cyprus Creek.  And we bought what was left of the Colonial Place subdivision and later Barenhurst Synagogue bought the land on the north side of Vollentine.  That was where the Barum Darry was, where the Barum’s were related to the Terry’s.  Later Herman Grupert developed all the way to Cyprus Creek and also some to the north of that I believe.

In 1928 -

[00:11:00]


- Mr. H.M. Hall developed the Harowoods subdivision from University east to Springdale.  The Delugach family developed the University Circle subdivision which surrounds a small part which is called Harry Delugach Park.  About 20 some odd lots and we built all the houses there.
Virginia Donaway:
Were those built for people or did you usually just build for the market?

Gilbert Delugach:
We built for the market entirely in those days.  Rarely did we build a custom house.  Occasionally we would build a custom house.  Most of the houses that were built in this area were built by builders who bought from developers in groups of lots, but built for the market.

Virginia Donaway:
And what price range are we talking about back in the 20’s?

Gilbert Delugach:
Late 20’s the –

[00:12:00]


-prices ranged all the way from to the west of where Marks and Benstoff developed about $6,000 up to $7,000, $8,000 and $10,000.  A $10,000 house was quite a thing.

Virginia Donaway:
That would be saying Harwood?

Gilbert Delugach:
Harwood probably had some $10,000 houses in there, it as a nice subdivision.

Rayanne Cramer:
What did a $10,000 house have, how many square feet?

Gilbert Delugach:
A $10,000 house would have approximately 2,000 square feet.  The other houses had around 1,400 to 1,500 square feet.  Going back a little bit, the 1925 –

[00:13:00]


- Mr. Ben P. Dlugach, spelled D-L-U-G-A-C-H, there were two spellings of the name.  The original spelling that my father used was Dlugach, but several members of the family put an E in and spelled it Delugach and people went with the Delugach.
Rayanne Cramer:
Why did they put the E in?

Gilbert Delugach:
To make it a little easier to spell and spell.  That is what my older brother and I did it for.

Virginia Donaway:
It does help.  I can say it when it has the E in it and when it doesn’t have the E I come out with the worst combinations.

Gilbert Delugach:
The family originally came from Poland or Russia and a combination of DL or VL was useable, but in the United States that’s not a combination.  You don’t have an L following a D or a V.

Virginia Donaway:
Did your father come from Poland or was it his parents?

Gilbert Delugach:
My father came from Poland.

[00:14:00]

Virginia Donaway:
When did he come?

Gilbert Delugach:
He came in 1891.  His mother and father and the other ten children came in 1892.

Virginia Donaway:
And they settled up in the Pinch area, right?

Gilbert Delugach:
They settled in the Pinch area and farmed over in Arkansas.

Virginia Donaway:
How did he happen to choose this area for development?  Just that was the place or did he have some –

Gilbert Delugach:
As a matter of fact he bought his first piece of land from Mr. Brinkley and Mr. Bryn’s father, called Coronial Barbadastone and built his first house in 1908.

Virginia Donaway:
Where was that?

Gilbert Delugach:
Where St. Jude’s Hospital sits today. The house would still be standing if they hadn’t torn it down.  


He bought a great many pieces of land from the Snowden family, who were -

[00:15:00]


- large land owners.  The first land he bought out here belonged to the Snowden.  Later he bought the Terry land and the land from the Briggs family and everything else.  He started in this area particular because they Snowden’s owned quite a bit of land there.

Rayanne Cramer:
One of the comments we get from so many people who lived in the area in the 30’s and even now is that there’s been such a diverse ethnic group in the neighborhood.  Do you know why particularly they gravitated to that neighborhood rather than other places in Memphis?

Gilbert Delugach:
It was just a very fine upper middle class area in the 20’s and 30’s and early 40’s.
[00:16:00]


Klondike was just to the west of Watkins Street, which was entirely by blacks and very, very small houses and things of that kind.  When the Jackson Avenue streetcar finally came out as far as Watkins this land began to develop and later the streetcar line was developed to McClain and on further out by Jackson.
Rayanne Cramer:
So you feel transportation brought.

Gilbert Delugach:
It was good transportation, it was an excellent location, near over by Hyne Park, near the university and it was a real upper middle class.  Very few houses built to compare with the ones on Oakland Park Avenue and Autumn, big two story –

[00:17:00]


- houses and some on Galloway.  There were bungalows and they were small business people and executives in some of the large companies.  As Memphis was growing and the factories were coming in and big distribution points were coming in.  The transportation was good.  The location was excellent.  

(Break in Audio)

Virginia Donaway:
The thing about the University View subdivision was it was just to the north of Snowden School, land also probably given by the Snowden family.  Foster and Season developed two middle streets –

[00:18:00]


- going east and west which left Tutwiler open which was developed by our family and Minion and Crump.  The land on University Boulevard, I believe was developed by Foster and Stevenson along with those two streets.

Virginia Donaway:
Is Lindel one of the –

Gilbert Delugach:
Lindel and Snowden were Foster and Stevenson streets.

Virginia Donaway:
Did you ever hear of Dan Hunt?  His name came in there somewhere.  He may have sold it to Foster and Stevenson.

Rayanne Cramer:
You mean Lindel was called –

Gilbert Delugach:
It was Lindel Avenue and Snowden Avenue.  Those were two streets that were developed by Foster and Stevenson.  On one side of Tutwiler was Snowden School and one side was developed by H. Delugach and Company.

[00:19:00]


Then to the north of the two streets, Lindel and Snowden was developed by H. Delugach and Company, that was Minion and Crump which went to the railroad track.

Rayanne Cramer:
We were looking at some of the houses on, I guess it was Crump.  Some of them look extremely old, like they might even be older than that, but they’re not.

Gilbert Delugach:
The oldest house on any of these streets would have been built in 1924.  They’re all bungalows.  This is the part east of McClain to University.

Virginia Donaway:
And this I think we’re talking about West.

Gilbert Delugach:
West of McClain, it was sort of a little subdivision; I don’t know whose it was.

Virginia Donaway:
It was Dickenson.

Gilbert Delugach:
Possibly so.

Virginia Donaway:
Either Dickenson or Faxson developed two little subdivisions.

Gilbert Delugach:
Some people built little houses and then the subdivision as inactive for a long time and later when things got better in that area people built -
[00:20:00]


- individual homes in there.

Rayanne Cramer:
So do you think that maybe some of those homes that look so very old might have been built in the early 1900’s?

Gilbert Delugach:
No, none that I know of was built that early.  I do not believe that anything was built before 1920.

Virginia Donaway:
These were sort of Queen Anne Victorian.

Gilbert Delugach:
It may be possible that an individual built a house in there.

Rayanne Cramer:
It looks like they were on laid out streets, it would have had to been –

Virginia Donaway:
I think it must be either in that Faxson or Dickinson subdivision that they got a plat for but just didn’t seem to develop much.  Dickenson did.

Gilbert Delugach:
When Snowden School was built there was practically nothing out in that neighborhood.  There were very few people living in that part, there were people who lived south of Parkway.

Virginia Donaway:
Was it hard to convince people to come out into this new area out east or once the houses were there they were ready to come?

Gilbert Delugach:
Once the development started and the transportation came there -

[00:21:00]


- it went like wildfire. 
Rayanne Cramer:
I’m sure especially after World War I there was probably a need for housing.

Gilbert Delugach:
There was no building that went on from 1916 to 1920.  I remember my father built his first house after the war on South Belleview and Central.  He built two houses in 1920 just to test the market because nobody knew what was going on.  There had been no activity whatsoever for four years during World War I, and right after the conclusion.  1920 started back and then in 1921 things began to hum again.  There was a small depression in 1920, but it got over very quickly.  It was a recession more –

[00:22:00]


- than a depression.  By 1921 my father and other builders like Foster and Stevenson, Marks and Benstoff as a developer who had a lot of buildings that they finances and the Faxson’s and people like that began to build and the market was excellent.

Virginia Donaway:
Did you know Mr. Dickenson?

Gilbert Delugach:
Yes, slightly.  Things just began to go fast.  You rarely failed to sell a house by completion.  Most of the time you sold it before it was completed.

Virginia Donaway:
How long did it take to build a house back then?


Gilbert Delugach:
Two months believe it or not.

Virginia Donaway:
With a basement and everything?

Gilbert Delugach:
Well, there were not too many built with basements.  They were built with partial basements.  But in those days labor was plentiful.  You could –

[00:23:00]


-dig out by hand a small basement.  Later we didn’t build any more basements, we built what you call sub-basements which was a little thing at ground level and the house was up on the foundation.  On ground level it was called a sub-basement were you put the heating plant.  


Even with a basement you could have a crew and you could dig this small basement in a week and put the footing and foundation in.  As I remember, I tell this story now, people say what was your first job in the building business?  My first job was counting cloth cement sacks and seeing that they had no holes in them because cement then was mixed on the ground on a board.  You mix the cement and gravel and a case of mortar and water.  

[00:24:00]


You mix it by hand.  These cloth sacks, the cement companies would pay $.10 a piece for empty clock sacks that had not been wet.  If they got wet they were no good because the cement would cake so you had to preserve them.  If they didn’t get wet and didn’t have holes in them, the company would pay you $.10 a piece for them.  That was my first job; I got paid $.10 a sack for everyone I saved.  In other words, I got the whole thing and it was all right for a young fellow.

Virginia Donaway:
Why did they choose to put basements inside those houses?  Basements don’t seem to be real common in Memphis, what was the idea, do you know?

Gilbert Delugach:
The first houses in the United States all had basements.

[00:25:00]


As a matter of fact as an aside I built some houses in St. Louis after we were not building basements in Memphis.  I used Memphis plans and put a basement under the house.  In St. Louis they said you could not sell a house without a basement.  I understand you can sell them without a basement in St. Louis now.  This was in the mid-1920s.


In Memphis they began to get away from basements and you put a small, maybe one quarter of the area in a basement with stairs down to it to put the heating plant in.  You don’t use it for storage like they used to use the little basements for.  Gradually in Memphis they got away almost entirely from basements and very few people had basements after about 1920.

Rayanne Cramer:
Who designed the houses that you built? 

[00:26:00]

(Break in audio)
Virginia Donaway:
You designed them and you smile like maybe you did, did you design them?

Gilbert Delugach:
In the more expensive houses architects were used and in a few of what we call volume housing.  The average builder would build a house which he himself had built previously in another location with some changes, if he wanted it a little larger.  And from that house people would buy other houses duplicate with some changes.  


A very interesting thing, we had very good carpenter contractors in those days, they were really skilled.  They would take a 1 x 12 board and a carpenters pencil and sketch out -


[00:27:00]


- whatever the changes were necessary for the customer and they’d say, do you want your room this way or that way and it would be done in a great many cases.  If you wanted to change your design, I designed several houses myself.  You were not required to have an architectural plan to get a permit.  Today you need a licensed architect to draw a plan for a permit no matter if it’s a three room house.


It was makeshift.  Houses were designed by architects and some were not designed by architects.

Virginia Donaway:
I noticed in looking through some of the old records and here, Colonial Terrace, Colonial Garden, this sort of thing, the Colonial title was popular and yet you see -
[00:28:00]


- a lot of the sort of English looking houses too.
Gilbert Delugach:
A great many were designed by architects, but when you got into a standardized inexpensive house, which was usually a rectangular shape house, it got to a stand up plan with change of elevation.  You could even say to the carpenter instead of having a hip roof we want to have a gable roof.  That’s all you had to tell him.  You want it to be a 6 12 gable that was it.  It didn’t seem that you needed an architect.  Maybe we did, maybe they would have been more distinctive if we’d used architects in those days.

Rayanne Cramer:
Who were some of the architects that did design?

Gilbert Delugach:
Jones and Farbringer were top architects.  Mr. Cairns was a top architect.  

[00:29:00]


He was related to the Snowden family, he designed a lot of homes.  An architect might design your basic home and you would pay him so much for each additional plan that you sold off of that plan instead of having to draw a whole new plan.
Virginia Donaway:
That’s interesting.

Gilbert Delugach:
It was a peculiar industry, but the people in it were qualified, both the builders, contractors and the individual workmen.  If you had a crew they stayed with you.  You used the same carpenter contractor, the same brick contractor, the same plasterer over and over again.  You had to tell them very little.  If there was some changes you had to tell them and that was all.  It was a fairly easy way to built.

[00:30:00]


We built with low prices, small profits, but volume.  And everybody was happy until the depression hit then it was very rough.  You had lots you couldn’t use and I would say an average of ten houses a year built from 1931 to 1937.  In 1938 when the FHA finally came out with a very fine financing plan most of the builders that were still able to got back into the business and went very strong until World War II.
Virginia Donaway:
Let me ask you a question about that.  How were the houses in the 20’s financed?  Did people pay cash for the house; did they borrow the money from the bank?

Gilbert Delugach:
In the 1920’s –

[00:31:00]


- most houses were sold on first and second mortgages.  The first mortgage people, the bank trust departments, insurance companies, Marks and Benstoff, firms of that kind would make a commitment to make a first mortgage of a certain amount of money which was about 65 to 70 percent of the selling price of the house.  The builder would then build the house, sell it with a small down payment and let the purchasers assume the first mortgage if they already owned the property and then take back what was called a second mortgage of the money.



After the depression they didn’t allow second mortgages.

Rayanne Cramer:
This is the FHA.

Gilbert Delugach:
They also required an architecture plan before he could build.  Even if it was a simple -

[00:32:00]


- house and a copy of a previous house, you had to have an architects plan to submit to the FHA.  The FHA did not lend the money, it went back to the mortgage people, insurance companies, banks and mortgage bankers and they would lend the money and the FHA would guarantee that the loan would be paid and if not the FHA would reimburse them.  They did not allow second mortgages.  But the FHA made a guarantee that you only had to get, in most cases, a 10 percent down payment.  It’s less now; it’s down to about three percent in some cases.  Then it was a ten percent down payment required from the purchaser.

The houses that were built in ’38 and ’39 were from $3,000, the FHA -

[00:33:00]


- 90 percent limit only went as far as $6,000.  In other words a $6,000 house, the purchaser would pay $600 cash and execute a $5,400 mortgage.  If they wanted a house above a $6,000 house, they had to pay all the extra in cash because a $5,400 mortgage was all the FHA would make.

That was the value of housing.  The great value of housing is what we built, not in this eastern part of town, but in other parts of town, in lower lot cost areas, we built quite a few $3,000 houses.  The FHA would guarantee a $2,700 mortgage.


One of the largest builders of the $3,000 house was Wallace Johnson.  He built a great many of the $3,000 houses.

Virginia Donaway:
Let me back up a minute.  

[00:34:00]


When you were talking about the banks with the first mortgage and the builder with the second, this explains then why in looking at some of the title transfers, say your father, it look like he sold a lot of property to say Bowall or somebody and then it would be transferred to the next owner, is that right?
Gilbert Delugach:
No, the mortgage was made by the builder in most cases.  The first mortgage, it was not a sale of the property.

Virginia Donaway:
But it would have been just a –

Gilbert Delugach:
It would have been a recorded mortgage from Marks and Benstoff or someone like that.  Then a second mortgage would be recorded at the time of sale and the builder would then have some of his own money invested which he would collect monthly.  The mortgages in those days, before FHA came in, the mortgages were usually five year mortgages with interest only payments on them, no principal.  So -

[00:35:00]


- that the buy had five years and in which to pay off the second mortgage.  Then he could refinance the first mortgage.  When the FHA came in, that was the real beginning of what is called an amortized mortgage, amortized first mortgage.  That was set up on a monthly payment plan which included principal and interest.  The FHA also required a certain amount of money paid each month for taxes and insurance.  It was very much like a person paying _____ you paid one payment a month to one entity and that was it.

When FHA came in the builder got his equity in cash.  He would build a house, usually getting what was called a construction loan from the mortgage company or bank and -

[00:36:00]


- then when he sold it the new mortgage would pay off everything and the builder would get his, say approximately 10 percent or 15 percent profit in cash.  There was no more involvement of the builder.  That’s why so much building went on from 1938 until the beginning of World War II and after World War II the same way because FHA terms were very liberal.  After World War II the Veterans Administration came in where you could sell houses to people with no down payment at all.  And FHA also had rental projects where they would lend 90 percent of the cost to the builder, 100 percent of his actual cost in most cases because 10 percent was profit.
[00:37:00]


Building was very easy from 1938 to until 1941.  Then it stopped completely again except for some war time housing until 1946.  Then people came back and entered in 1946.
Rayanne Cramer:
Was there any building after World War II?

Gilbert Delugach:
Oh yes.

Virginia Donaway:
Let’s see how far have we gotten?  We haven’t talked about this property up in here and your father, was that Avalon Park?

Gilbert Delugach:
Around Avalon Park was developed by Ben Pedaludge and the Terry Circle subdivision was built by Ben Pedaludge and H. Ludge and Company, different parts of it.

Virginia Donaway:
This Avalon Park - 

[00:38:00]


- did it sort of loop over behind Terry Circle or did that Terry Circle, that development go clear to –
Gilbert Delugach:
It was west of Terry Circle.

Virginia Donaway:
So the Terry Circle one went straight up to the creek, that’s the one I couldn’t tell.

Gilbert Delugach:
I believe that’s correct.  

Virginia Donaway:
There was a Shell Place or something, now I remember.

Gilbert Delugach:
After World War II in 1947 about, we developed the Springdale Garden subdivision which was on Springdale west to University.  The west side of Springdale and other people were developing in that.

Virginia Donaway:
That’s Rainbow Circle up in there?

Gilbert Delugach:
No, Rainbow Circle came in the ‘20’s.

Virginia Donaway:
Oh, did it?

Gilbert Delugach:
But it may have stopped and finished up after the war.

[00:39:00]


What came in the ’20’s was stopped by the depression and started up again, some of them in 1938, went to 1941, stopped again and finished again after the war.  But some new things north of Vollentine to the east around Springdale were developed right after the war and that took in everything to Cyprus Creek and that was about the end of the development.  It was about 1948 or 1949.
Virginia Donaway:
And this was the Briggs property there?

Gilbert Delugach:
North of the Briggs property.  The Briggs property was bought just before the depression.  We bought the Briggs property in 1930.  Before we were able to develop it, the depression hit.  So we really developed it between 1938 and -

[00:40:00]


- 1941.
Virginia Donaway:
And that was called what subdivision?

Gilbert Delugach:
That was called the –

Virginia Donaway:
Sheridan Manor.

Gilbert Delugach:
Sheridan made North and South Street.  I believe that was the name.  We had a corporation that built a group of houses under the name of Sheridan Incorporated.

Virginia Donaway:
What about the Homewood subdivision?

Gilbert Delugach:
Homewood was developed in 1927, ’28, and ’29.  It was pretty well built up before the depression.

Virginia Donaway:
Who designed and built that one?

Gilbert Delugach:
H.M. Hall was the developer and he was the first one to my knowledge that took advantage of the contour of the land.  He was ahead of his time.  Most of the developers would buy a piece of ground, which was not entirely level.  Many pieces were fairly level.

[00:41:00]


They would grade it to a level point, have a little height above the street so it would drain, but they would knock down every tree that there was.

Virginia Donaway:
Even back in the ‘30’s?

Gilbert Delugach:
No, in the ’20’s.

Virginia Donaway:
In the ‘20’s I mean.

Gilbert Delugach:
In 1928 about when Mr. Hall developed his, this was a rolling piece of land with beautiful trees on it that was owned by Mr. Byrd Snowden.  Mr. Hall bought the land and actually saved money in his development because he didn’t have to fill any land or cut down any hills.  He let the streets follow the contour of the land which saved money in that way and also saved money in construction.  When you filled a lot you had to go down to solid ground with your foundation, with your footing and foundation.  You fill it up with dirt and then you had to dig through -

[00:42:00]


- the dirt in order to get down to it.  In this case it was easier to put the foundations in.  Of course the lots were not level.  What he had the lots do most of the time was slope down to the street.  And it was a beautiful subdivision and he saved the trees.

Rayanne Cramer:
It did look beautiful.

Gilbert Delugach:
It was an innovation and followed of course later by ______ people.  He was the first one to my knowledge who took advantage of the contour and the trees and made a beautiful subdivision out of it.

Rayanne Cramer:
Did he have architects design those houses?


Gilbert Delugach:
I don’t know how many houses Mr. Hall built.  I doubt if he built many houses in there.  I think he just sold lots mainly.  Oh yes, a number of architectural designed houses in there.  We built two or three custom houses for customers of ours.

[00:43:00]

Rayanne Cramer:
Oh really?

Gilbert Delugach:
Architecture designed houses.  Most custom built houses were architecture designed.

Rayanne Cramer:
Could you give me an example of maybe some of the houses that were designed and custom built for whom and where they are?

Gilbert Delugach:
Mr. Ben Goldstein’s house, Nathan Shamberg’s house.

Rayanne Cramer:
Are those?

Gilbert Delugach:
In Homewood, custom built, we built them.

Virginia Donaway:
Since this had been a big dairy area, were there a lot of trees, like say up in the Terry property and that sort of thing?  Or was it open farmland?

Gilbert Delugach:
It was pretty open farmland.  There were some dairies and they had some trees.  It wasn’t generally to my knowledge in the ‘20’s a forest.  It was mostly open so they could grow feed and crops.  The Briggs farm we bought later, the Sheridan Manor -  
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- that was a farm and really not a dairy.  And that was owned by Mr. Tom Briggs of Welcome Wagon and his father farmed it.  It was so interesting when we bought the property we would go by there and he had permission to stay there until his crops were in.


Briggs farm was a regular farm; I believe there was cotton on it and corn.  Mr. Briggs’ father who I thought was an old man, who was probably somewhat younger than I am today, used to be out there with his tractor farming.  I got very friendly with Mr. Briggs Sr.

Virginia Donaway:
That’s interesting.

Gilbert Delugach:
And of course Mr. Tom Briggs of Welcome Wagon was busy all over the world and he just let his father farm the land because he wanted to.

Virginia Donaway:
The property that’s University Cabana -
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- Apartments, that was part of the Briggs property too?

Gilbert Delugach:
That’s correct, yes.

Rayanne Cramer:
Who developed that?

Virginia Donaway:
Smith and Turley built the apartments I think, but I don’t know who did the townhouses around, did they do the townhouses too?

Gilbert Delugach:
I am not certain.

Rayanne Cramer:
Was that land you bought from Mr. Briggs?

Gilbert Delugach:
No, we did not have that land.  You see everything is not correct to the inch.  We had moved away from this area by that time and were not building over there anymore and move away physically in our homes and everything else.  

Rayanne Cramer:
Did your family all live around there?

Gilbert Delugach:
Yes.

Rayanne Cramer:
Where did everybody live, do you remember?

Gilbert Delugach:
My father lived on McClain; my stepmother still lives there, between Jackson and Vollentine.  My older brother lived on -
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- Idlewhile and I lived on Auburndale, Jackson and Idlewhile and on Sheridan at one time shortly after I was married.  And my brother Ben, my younger brother lived on Rainbow Circle.  But by the time the cabanas were built, we had all moved away from that area except my stepmom.

Rayanne Cramer:
So what year did you all move away basically and what time span?  Was it early ‘50’s?

Gilbert Delugach:
I moved behind Park in 1941 and then out east in 1953.  My brother Manny lived there for a long time and moved out east at Metacrest Circle I imagine in 1950 something and my brother Ben moved –
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- on Shadow Grove and Perkins at about 1952.

Virginia Donaway:
I noticed, there’s another section here on Tresbunt that you say 1940ish.

Gilbert Delugach:
That was a depression deal.  Just before the depression the Palmer Brothers, very prominent real estate, this is the father and uncle of the Palmer’s who are now in business.  They developed the land in Tresbunt west to Springdale.  

(Break in audio)

- Vollentine.  

Virginia Donaway:
This would have been due north of Hyne Park then?

Gilbert Delugach:
Due north of Hyne Park, right across Jackson Avenue.  And the depression hit.  They didn’t even finish the improvements.
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Some of the streets didn’t have the gravel in them.  They had curb but no gravel yet.  Everything stopped in the depression, you couldn’t sell a lot, you couldn’t sell a house, you couldn’t finance a house, you couldn’t do anything.
Virginia Donaway:
But the developers generally paid cash for the property?

Gilbert Delugach:
They would finance it through the bank.  The bank we had we were in debt to the bank like all other developers and defaulted mortgages and things of that kind.  We were very lucky, we’re not held in default, the banks and the mortgage companies carried all of our paper until after the depression was over and we were able to pay them back, but some builders went bankrupt because they couldn’t pay their mortgages off.

Virginia Donaway:
This Palmer property is the one that had the spring on it, was that right?

Gilbert Delugach:
That was the old Crystal Springs property where Billy Wilkinson had a gambling house at one time.

[00:49:00]

Virginia Donaway:
Tell us about that.

Gilbert Delugach:
This was before the development.  The eastern part may have been developed, but there was a little corner left out of Springdale and Jackson that was Crystal Springs and Mr. Billy Wilkinson had a night club and gambling spot there in the early ‘20’s.  The Palmer’s developed the west side of Tresbunt and East Drive and Henry Street and Vollentine and didn’t finish the improvements because they were caught by the depression.

After the depress Mr. Dave Durman bought everything that they had left.  There was nothing built there then, and began to sell off the lots to different people.  We bought the lots on both sides -
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- of East Drive from Jackson to Henry Street and there were homes on it.  Now these homes were again, they were around the $6,000 type, a little bit more than $6,000, $6,500 to $7,000.
Virginia Donaway:
Today on the corner I guess it’s just Brandale and Jackson there is a Church of Christ, where did the Crystal Springs, where –

Gilbert Delugach:
Where the church is.

Virginia Donaway:
It’s where the church is?

Gilbert Delugach:
Right.  There is one empty lot that which is innocent to me because I am sort of a mathematician.  I tried to figure out, we sold the lot on the northwest corner on the east side of Jackson to a young lady in about 1940.

Virginia Donaway:
Right at 40 years ago.

Gilbert Delugach:
Approximately 40 years ago.
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The lot is still sitting there.  She paid very little money for it, something like $1,100.  Land has gone up in value as anyone would know.  Had you put $1,100 in the bank in 1940 to today you would have more money than that lot is worth.  I don’t know why it has ever sold, what happened to the lady or anything but the lot still sits there.  It’s worth more than she paid for it I’m sure because all you could build on it was an inexpensive house.  It’s not a commercial location.  It’s worth more than she paid for it, but had you put that much money in the bank at ordinary interest it would probably be worth five times as much -
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- as it’s worth for sale.

It’s unusual for an improved lot to sit for that long because the carrying charges on a lot with the taxes and lots of interest on your money is tremendous for a residential lot.  If you had a commercial lot it’s worth keeping because it can be worth a lot of money someday.  How much can a residential lot in a neighborhood that may be fairly stable but you wouldn’t want to build a $50,000 or $75,000 house there.

Rayanne Cramer:
When Hyne Park developed did individuals buy lots and have houses built?

Gilbert Delugach:
As far as I know, the Hyne’s and the Gerber’s did not build any houses.  Hyne Park was put in very inexpensively along the creek, one both side of the creek.

Virginia Donaway:
No curbs and gutter.

Gilbert Delugach:
No curb and gutter, no sidewalks -
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- but yet a beautiful subdivision with the trees and everything.

Virginia Donaway:
Why do you think they had no curbs and gutters?

Gilbert Delugach:
They were not required by the city in those days.

Virginia Donaway:
But most other subdivisions had them.

Gilbert Delugach:
Later you couldn’t put a subdivision in unless you put up a bond that you put in complete improvements, underground drainage.  Hyne Park had no underground drainage; everything flowed down to the creek.

Rayanne Cramer:
Does it now?

Gilbert Delugach:
As far I know it still drains that way.  That’s a surface drainage because they had sewers, but the surface drainage still goes into the creek.

Virginia Donaway:
Something though like University –

Gilbert Delugach:
Because that was the low point.

Virginia Donaway:
Something like University View your father put in curbs and –

Gilbert Delugach:
At that time they required.  Hyne Park was put in earlier.  At that time they required curb and gutter and sidewalks.

Virginia Donaway:
So that was in the ‘20’s when they started that.

Gilbert Delugach:
In the early ‘20’s they started that, by 1924, ’25 -
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- you had to put them in.
Virginia Donaway:
That’s interesting; let me see what have we not –

Rayanne Cramer:
Did you build your own house in Hyne Park when you did it?

Gilbert Delugach:
Yes, in 1941.  

Rayanne Cramer:
And you bought a lot?

Gilbert Delugach:
I bought a lot from my stepmother.  She and her sister had bought it from somewhere, maybe from the Hines, and she wasn’t using it and I had a chance to sell the house we were living in.  We wanted a larger house so I called her up and said before I signed the contract, would you sell me your lot and she said she’d be glad to.  We built the house at Hyne Park.

Virginia Donaway:
The last thing to develop then would have been Vollentine Hills on the old golf course, right?

Gilbert Delugach:
Not quite, the Springdale thing was the last thing developed.

Virginia Donaway:
And who did that, Shankman you say?

Gilbert Delugach:
Shankman did this little piece here and we did this piece.  We developed the lots and built a few houses there and -
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- Marlin Brothers bought the rest of the lots from us and built some house there.  That was the beginning of the Marlin Brothers.  That’s the first houses they built, the three Marlin Brothers, bought the land from us. This was after World War II.

Virginia Donaway:
So Vollentine Hills, Springdale Hills and the Shankman part –

Gilbert Delugach:
About the last development.

Virginia Donaway:
All after World War II?

Gilbert Delugach:
That’s right.

Virginia Donaway:
Okay, what were those house cost in there then?  They were up above $6,000 obviously, you remember?

Gilbert Delugach:
Top would be $7,000 to $8,000.

Virginia Donaway:
Even after the second World War?

Gilbert Delugach:
Yes.  Amazingly people don’t realize it; you could have bought almost anything up to 1950 or 1951 at the original prices basically, very little inflation at that time.  People think the inflation came about during the way, but it didn’t -
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- and things could have been bought after the war at very low prices.  We built houses out around Raleigh that sold for $5,500, brick houses.  And this was in 1950 and ’51 up to $7,000 tops.
Virginia Donaway:
Let me back up a minute and let’s go back over to McClain.  This property up around Minion and up in there, in looking back at some of the old plats, it looked like two or three people tried to develop it and one of them Julia Euhorn’s Minion Terrace.
Gilbert Delugach:
T.J. Euhorn, yes.  A friend of mine bought a lot from him and built a house.

Virginia Donaway:
Those are the little white house’s there.

Gilbert Delugach:
White frame house, but this house was built in about 1939.  So there are still empty lots there then.  
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Mr. Euhorn may have built some houses there and he owned some lots there, T. J. Euhorn.
Virginia Donaway:
I noticed some of them had Julia on it and I thought that was unusual.

Gilbert Delugach:
And there was a little stuff east of McClain, east of Minion.  Minion offsets – West McClain is north of the railroad tracks and East McClain is south of the railroad tracks.

Virginia Donaway:
Speaking of the railroad tracks, yesterday I was looking at the 1924 Harlem Bartholomew plan for Memphis.  It started out looking at the maps and the pictures.  And on one of the railroad maps, a claim between Tutwiler and Jackson, it says present yards.  Do you ever remember any L&N railroad yards?
Gilbert Delugach:
What did you call them?

Virginia Donaway:
The L&N railroad yards, it just said present yard.  They had the Leavewood Yard and I wonder if it just meant extra tracks.

[00:58:00]

Gilbert Delugach:
I don’t ever remember seeing anything but the single track there.  I know for one time we lived for a short time at University Circle and the railroad was right behind us.  We lived on Minion right across from the railroad track.  I can remember anything, but these were sharp ______ buildings.

Virginia Donaway:
I couldn’t believe that.  Some of this property up in here, the property south of Vollentine, the Overton’s pretty well owned originally.  Part of it north of there was owned originally by someone named William Lawrence and then Thomas Perron and then the Payne family, did you ever hear any of those?  It was 1800’s.

Gilbert Delugach:
It was before I was familiar with it.

Virginia Donaway:
It was 1800’s, but I didn’t know.

Gilbert Delugach:
After all, I wasn’t here in 1800’s, almost.

Virginia Donaway:
I knew you weren’t here, but I didn’t know whether someone had said -


[00:59:00]


- that was the old Payne property.  Sometimes old timers will keep referring to something back.

Gilbert Delugach:
My fresh recollection of this area was in 1915 when my father built some houses on the south side of Parkway.

Virginia Donaway:
And what did it look like on the other side of Parkway in 1915?

Gilbert Delugach:
Woods, we were told not to go in there on account of the snacks.

Rayanne Cramer:
Were there any springs like Dale Springs and all of that?

Gilbert Delugach:
It wasn’t Crystal Springs, it was Dale Springs.  Someone named Dale must have owned it at one time.  That’s where the name Spring Dale came from, it was Dale Springs, that’s right.

Virginia Donaway:
Snowden School would have been there.

Gilbert Delugach:
Snowden School was built.

Virginia Donaway:
1910 I think.

Gilbert Delugach:
Most of the people that went to Snowden School lived south of Parkway.  There may have been a few people that lived north of Parkway, but there were no formal subdivision that I know of.
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The railroad tracks ran through it and in 1915 it was a wilderness.
Virginia Donaway:
There were some streets through.

Gilbert Delugach:
That was about the time that the Speedway Terrace was put in, somewhere in there.

Virginia Donaway:
One of the streets was laid out when Speedway Terrace went in I suppose.

Gilbert Delugach:
Right.

Rayanne Cramer:
Also there were the farms, the Barum Dairy Farm.

Gilbert Delugach:
That of course was north you see.

Virginia Donaway:
You had to go out Vollentine and Jackson.

Gilbert Delugach:
That was north of Vollentine.

Virginia Donaway:
May Road went –

Rayanne Cramer:
Were there any other farms that you remember?

Gilbert Delugach:
Just the Briggs farm was all I remember.

Rayanne Cramer:
And that was an operating?

Gilbert Delugach:
Oh yes.

Rayanne Cramer:
And were any of the dairies?

Gilbert Delugach:
Oh yes, the Barum dairy was operating, we bought milk from them.

Rayanne Cramer:
Right, but were there any other dairies?

Gilbert Delugach:
I don’t know.

Virginia Donaway:
It was interesting in this 1922 map I was looking at that May Street -

[01:01:00]
Gilbert Delugach:
That’s in Mercy.

Virginia Donaway:
Went north of Jackson and the other was all closed.  University was proposed.

Gilbert Delugach:
It took the name University on Southwestern –

Virginia Donaway:
What were people’s reaction to Southwestern’s coming?  Do you remember or were you too young to pay attention to?

Gilbert Delugach:
I remember it well.  Everybody seemed to be very well pleased with it because it helped develop the area and it was a fine university.  And everyone was happy that it moved as far as I know.

Rayanne Cramer:
Do you remember any talk about a Negro college going in there?

Gilbert Delugach:
No.

Rayanne Cramer:
Anywhere around there?

Gilbert Delugach:
No.

Virginia Donaway:
There was something I couldn’t figure out in the Jackson Improvement Club minutes.  Somewhere, and it was somewhere up north I guess and we couldn’t figure out.

Gilbert Delugach:
No I don’t know how the university kept up when I was in college –
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- away and I’d see it in the newspaper and come home and I know they put the university in there.

(Break in audio)

Rayanne Cramer:
- biggest influx of Jewish people coming into the neighborhood.

Gilbert Delugach:
They began to come in all during the 1920’s.  The synagogue was built because there were a lot of Jewish people living around there, Orthodox Jewish people.

Virginia Donaway:
Do you remember when Sears was built?

Gilbert Delugach:
Oh yes.

Virginia Donaway:
What was the neighborhood’s reaction to that coming in?

Gilbert Delugach:
There was a lot of opposite to it and there was talk of that time that political pressure was put on the city to allow them to build it there.  Mr. Charlie Hayes of Marks and Benstoff was one of the main ones to help get Sears Roebuck in there.

Virginia Donaway:
And the street really just sort of stopped at Sears then, right?

Gilbert Delugach:
That’s right, the land was at the -
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- railroad tracks, but there were a lot of homes around there, there were people living there.  And as people usually do, they didn’t think they wanted a large commercial establishment there.  That didn’t have much to do with the people to the east of Watkins because that was not developed very much yet, it was a little bit too far away.  But the people around Sears, which was not in this particular area, were the ones that complained the most about Sears.  But it was done and the city did it and nobody was hurt.

Rayanne Cramer:
You were ____ when the neighborhood shopping areas were developed?

Gilbert Delugach:
It was very hit or miss.  The builders were not as smart as they are now.  We never left off anything for –
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